SMITH MOORE

7777 Bonhomme Avenue Suite 2400 Clayton, MO 63105 (314) 727-5225

Smith, Moore & Co. Disclosure Brochure

March 31, 2025

www.smithmoore.com

This brochure provides information about the qualifications and business practices of Smith, Moore & Co. ("Smith Moore"), an investment adviser registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). If you have any questions about the contents of this brochure, please contact Jaret D. Perryman, Chief Compliance Officer, at (314) 727-5225.

The oral and written communications of an investment adviser are intended to provide you with information to assist in your determination as to whether or not to retain the services of that investment adviser. The information in this brochure has not been approved or verified by the SEC or by any state securities authority. Registration of an investment adviser does not imply any level of skill or training.

Additional information about Smith Moore is available on the SEC's website at: www.adviserinfo.sec.gov

Material Changes

Since the most recent issuance of our brochure on March 29, 2024, we have not made any material updates.

Smith Moore will continue to deliver information to you and our other clients about our qualifications and business practices on an annual basis. We will also provide updated disclosure information about material changes as they occur. As with this brochure, any summaries of changes will include the date of the last annual update of our brochure.

You may obtain a copy of our current brochure at any time and at no charge by contacting Jaret D. Perryman, our Chief Compliance Officer, by phone, at (314) 727-5225 or by e-mail, at <u>jperryman@smithmoore.com</u>.

Additional information about us and about our individual financial advisors is also available via the SEC's website, at: www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Information about your individual financial advisor can be found in the supplement to this brochure.

Table of Contents

Material Changes	1
Table of Contents	2
Advisory Business	3
Fees & Compensation	5
Performance Based Fees	9
Types of Clients	9
Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss	9
Disciplinary Information	10
Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations	10
Code of Ethics, <i>Participation or Interest in Client</i> <i>Transactions & Personal Trading</i>	11
Brokerage Practices	12
Review of Accounts	12
Client Referrals and Other Compensation	13
Custody	13
Investment Discretion	13
Voting Client Securities	14
Financial Information	14

CRD Number 3441

Advisory Business

Smith Moore's principal location is in Clayton, Missouri and is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Missouri. Smith Moore was founded in 1913 and has functioned since that time as a broker-dealer firm registered with the SEC and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"). We became registered with the SEC as an investment advisory firm in 2007.

Our financial advisors separately offer securities brokerage services and investment advisory services to their clients. The investment advisory services we offer include both the management of client assets by our financial advisors and by third-party investment managers who are not affiliated with us.

Your financial advisor will work with you to identify your investment goals, objectives and risk tolerances in order to structure an investment account and an ongoing investment strategy that he/she believes is most appropriate for you.

In addition to investment management, our financial advisors also provide a variety of investment consulting services, including financial planning. The nature of any investment consulting services recommended to you will be determined by your financial advisor based on the specific needs and objectives you identify.

Direct Asset Management Services

The investment accounts structured by our financial advisors could consist of stocks, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"), corporate and government bonds, options and alternative investments such as limited partnerships, structured products, interval funds and real estate investment trusts.

The selection of securities for your investment accounts and the investment strategies utilized by your financial advisor are determined based upon your specific individual investment objectives, goals and risk tolerances. Your financial advisor may periodically adjust the investments in your account (a process referred to as "reallocating" or "rebalancing") to ensure that your investment account remains consistent with your objectives, goals and risk tolerances.

To ensure that your investments are managed in a manner that is consistent with your objectives, goals and risk tolerances, your financial advisor relies upon you to notify him/her of any changes in your objectives, goals and risk tolerances, as well as any other material changes in your personal circumstances (such as your employment, marital status, financial condition, etc.). These changes in your personal circumstances may result in recommended changes to your investment account and the investment strategies employed.

Your financial advisor can manage your investment account on either a discretionary basis (meaning that you authorize your financial advisor to make specific investment decisions on your behalf) or non-discretionary basis (meaning that your financial advisor must obtain your specific prior approval before a transaction is processed in your investment account).

Whether your financial advisor is authorized to exercise discretion with respect to your investment account is solely your choice. When you establish an advisory relationship with us, we will ask that you advise us in writing how you would like your financial advisor to handle your account.

The scope of the discretionary authority that you can grant to your financial advisor is limited to the selection of specific investments for your account and deciding how to allocate your assets among those investments. In accordance with this discretionary authority, your financial advisor can decide if and when to buy, hold, or sell an investment. Once you have granted discretionary authority to your financial advisor, it is effective until you change it or revoke it in writing.

Smith Moore Open Architecture Advisory Plan

Open Architecture is a personalized investment account that is designed and managed by your individual Financial Advisor.

The investment accounts structured by your financial advisor could consist of stocks, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"), corporate and government bonds, options and alternative investments such as limited partnerships, structured products, interval funds and real estate investment trusts.

In addition to the management of your investment account by your individual financial advisor, Smith Moore offers the following investment programs:

Smith Moore Select Models Advisory Plan

The Smith Moore Select Models Advisory Plan is a personalized mutual fund advisory program. Smith Moore offers a variety of American Funds Portfolio Series as well as American Funds Target Date Funds.

American Funds determines the asset allocation of these offerings.

As of December 31, 2024, our financial advisors managed approximately \$1.88 billion in client assets on a discretionary basis and \$126 million in client assets on a non-discretionary basis.

Third-Party Investment Management Services

We have entered into agreements with various investment managers who are not affiliated with Smith Moore to provide investment management services for our clients. In order to assist you in the selection of one or more of these third-party investment managers, your financial advisor will use the information you have provided relative to your investment objectives, goals and risk tolerances, as well as other relevant information to identify the investment manager(s) whose investment strategies appear most appropriate for you.

Some of the other relevant information considered in selecting a third-party investment manager for you include (but are not limited to):

- Your preference for certain types of investments or investment strategies
- Your investment time horizon
- The size and composition of your investment account
- Your tax considerations
- Your financial advisor's prior experience with and preferences for particular investment managers
- The fees charged by the investment manager
- The experience and capabilities of the investment manager

Third-party investment managers generally manage client investment accounts on a discretionary basis.

Investment Consulting & Financial Planning Services

Your financial advisor can provide you with a variety of investment consulting and financial planning services to assist you in one or more of the following areas:

- asset protection
- tax planning
- business succession
- strategies for exercising stock options
- cash flow
- education planning
- estate planning
- multi-generational planning

- wealth transfer
- charitable gifting
- long-term care and disability planning
- retirement planning
- insurance planning
- asset allocation comparisons
- risk management

Your financial advisor could also provide consulting services with respect to one or more of the following additional areas:

- assisting you in the preparation of an investment policy statement
- reviewing and recommending changes to an existing investment policy statement (or similar guidelines, policies, and/or investment allocation that you are employing)
- reviewing existing contracts that you have with service providers such as managers and consultants, and making recommendations for changes
- assisting you in renegotiating the fees you pay to service providers and/or assisting you in conducting a search for new service providers
- analyzing the performance of your current investment manager
- advising you regarding the manner in which your investment account is being managed and, at your request, assisting you in searching for a new investment manager
- advising you regarding the management style and/or investment styles being employed in your account
- advising you on the purchase and sale of particular individual investments
- monitoring your transaction costs
- monitoring compliance by your investment managers with your investment policy statement
- assisting you in voting proxies

In conjunction with providing the foregoing services, your financial advisor may provide you with a comprehensive, written financial plan. The preparation of a financial plan requires that you provide your financial advisor with an assortment of personal data such as family records, employment records, budgeting, assets, liabilities. estate information. and tax information.

We encourage you to also consult with your attorney, accountant, insurance agent, and/or other trusted advisors in reviewing any recommendations that result from the investment consulting services provided to you.

The investment consulting services and/or financial plan provided by your financial advisor may include investment recommendations. You are free to choose whether or not to implement those recommendations. If you choose to implement those recommendations, you may do so through your financial advisor and Smith Moore or through any investment adviser or securities brokerage firm of your choice.

Regardless of the services you choose, we strongly encourage you to keep your financial advisor informed of any changes in your personal circumstances, financial situation, investment objectives or risk tolerance.

Fees & Compensation

We offer our investment advisory services on a fee-only basis. Our investment advisory fees are calculated based upon the market value of the investment held in your account. Approximately one-fourth of our fee is billed each quarter based on the average value of your account over the course of the quarter.

Securities brokerage firms and other financial institutions that hold investment accounts for advisory clients are referred to as "custodians."

Custodians usually determine the values of the assets in your investment accounts.

In our capacity as a securities brokerage firm, all of our customer accounts are held by RBC Clearing & Custody, a division of RBC Capital Markets, LLC ("RBC") or directly with a mutual fund or insurance company. RBC, which is not affiliated with Smith Moore, is a FINRA-member brokerage firm whose services include executing and clearing securities transactions for the customers of other securities brokerage firms, holding the cash and securities of those customers, and issuing transaction confirmations and account statements.

In our capacity as an investment adviser, we contract the services of RBC as the custodian of our client accounts. In those instances, in which your financial advisor manages the investments in your account, RBC will hold your investment assets and will issue transaction confirmations and account statements reflecting the activity in your account.

RBC also determines the value of the individual securities in your account. We periodically test the reasonableness and accuracy of those investment values.

In those instances, in which the assets in your investment account are managed by a thirdparty investment manager, those assets will usually be held with a custodian other than RBC (although they could be held at RBC). You will receive information about your account from that custodian on at least a quarterly basis.

We generally charge investment management fees "in arrears," meaning that we charge our fees after we have provided our services to you. Because our fees are charged quarterly, they are calculated based on the number of days during the quarter that our advisory agreement with you was in effect. Third-party investment managers may charge their fees in arrears or in advance of providing services to you. The fee billing policy of each third-party investment manager will be described in its disclosure brochure. Smith Moore and your financial advisor will usually be paid a portion of the fees charged by third-party investment managers.

Fees for Direct Asset Management

The annual fee we charge for the management of your investment account generally ranges between .5% (one-half percent) and 3% (three percent) of the value of the investment assets managed by your financial advisor.

Our fees are negotiable at our sole discretion. Factors that could affect the amount of the fees we charge include (but are not limited to):

- the amount of assets to be managed
- the types of investment assets to be managed
- the complexity of your portfolio
- the size and number of other accounts maintained with us by you and/or your family members

We require that you authorize us in writing to withdraw our investment advisory fees directly from your investment account at RBC. This authorization is set forth in our investment advisory agreement.

RBC will send a statement to you at least quarterly that includes the value of your investments, our advisory fee, and the market value used to calculate your fee. This statement will also reflect all transactions effected in your account and the current value of the investment assets held in your account at RBC.

We encourage you to review your RBC statements to verify the accuracy of the calculation of our fees.

In addition to our advisory fees, you will be required to pay other charges, as applicable:

- \$5.50 administrative service charge (per trade not including mutual fund PIPs/SWIPs & mutual fund exchanges within the same fund family). This charge covers the operational and non-execution expenses associated with offering the wrap fee program.
- custodial fees
- transaction-related fees (i.e., wire transfer fees, transfer taxes, etc.)
- credit access line interest
- internal fees and expenses imposed by mutual funds, ETFs, and other investments.
- other fees and/or taxes applicable to particular types of accounts or transactions

We will provide you with a separate Client Fee Listing for the specific information on the fees that we charge.

As noted above, mutual fund companies, ETFs, and other investments charge internal fees and expenses for their products. These fees and expenses are in addition to any advisory fees charged by Smith Moore. Complete details of these internal fees and expenses are explained in the prospectuses for each investment. You are strongly encouraged to read these documents before making or authorizing any investments. Your financial advisor will be available to answer any questions you have about fees and expenses.

If you purchase mutual fund shares through us, you will pay an administrative service charge that would not be charged if the transaction was made directly through the mutual fund company. Also, mutual funds held in accounts at securities brokerage firms (and investment advisory account custodians) could charge internal fees that are different from mutual funds held at the mutual fund company.

You can purchase shares of mutual funds directly from the mutual fund company without a transaction fee. Those investments, however, will not be part of our advisory relationship with you. This means that they will not be included in our investment strategies, investment performance monitoring, or investment reallocations.

Fees for Third-Party Investment Management Services

As noted above, the advisory services provided by third-party investment managers and the fees they charge for those services are detailed in their respective disclosure brochures. Your financial advisor will provide you with a copy of the brochure for each investment manager recommended to you.

The custodian employed by each third-party investment manager will send a statement to you at least quarterly that includes the value of your investments, the advisory fee you have been charged, and how that advisory fee was calculated. The statement will also reflect all transactions effected in your account and the current value of the investment assets held on your behalf.

We encourage you to review the statements you receive and verify the accuracy of the calculation of the fees you are charged.

Fees for Investment Consulting Services

Fees for investment consulting and financial planning services are charged on an hourly basis. The amount you will be charged will be negotiated between you and your financial advisor.

Generally, the amount of our fees will depend upon the complexity of the services you need and will range from \$125 to \$600 per hour. Your financial advisor will provide you with an estimate of the cost of the services to be provided to you prior to beginning the investment consulting process.

You and your financial advisor will jointly determine how you will be billed for the

investment consulting services you are provided. That billing may be structured on a monthly basis, on a quarterly basis, upon completion of the services specified in the investment consulting agreement, or in some other manner agreed to by you and your financial advisor.

As previously noted, all fees are negotiable at our sole discretion. Whether you implement any of the investment recommendations resulting from the investment consulting or financial planning services provided by your financial advisor is entirely at your discretion.

If you choose to implement your financial advisor's recommendations, you can do so through the financial professional of your choice. If you implement those recommendations through your financial advisor, we and your financial advisor will receive compensation for those services beyond the consulting fees you paid.

For example, if you choose to effect securities transactions through your financial advisor in conjunction with his/her association as a securities representative of Smith Moore brokerdealer, your financial advisor will receive commissions or other transaction-based compensation from those transactions.

Your financial advisor may receive additional compensation resulting from the securities transactions you effect through him/her in their capacity as a registered representative of Smith Moore broker-dealer. For example, your financial advisor may receive "12b-1 fees," which are fees paid by mutual fund companies for the on-going marketing of their investment products.

In addition, Smith Moore receives compensation as part of their clearing agreement with RBC, including the \$5.50 administrative service charge (per client trade unless exceptions apply), mutual fund networking fees, annual IRA account fees, bank deposit, money market, credit interest, margin and credit access line programs.

This clearing agreement also provided a onetime cash incentive payment in August 2021 to Smith Moore to offset infrastructure and operational expenses payable to RBC, along with an ongoing annual marketing and recruiting incentive.

The financial incentives included in the clearing agreement with RBC present a conflict of interest to remain with RBC and recommend that clients engage in various transactions and services. The more transactions in your account, the more fees we will charge you. This presents a conflict of interest in that we have an incentive to effect transactions or encourage you to engage in transactions to generate more fees rather than solely based on your needs.

We are committed to acting in your best interests at all times and we regularly monitor the interaction between our advisory representatives and their clients to identify and address potential conflicts of interest.

Your financial advisor may also be licensed to sell and service insurance products through various have insurance companies that selling agreements with Smith Moore. In this capacity as they will receive insurance agent, an commissions for the insurance products you purchase.

Your financial advisor can explain to you the specific costs associated with any investment or insurance products recommended to you.

You are under no obligation to purchase investment or insurance products, or to implement any investment consulting or financial planning recommendations through your financial advisor or us.

You may purchase investment products and implement investment consulting or financial planning recommendations through the investment or insurance professional of your choice.

The fact that your financial advisor receives compensation from various sources presents a conflict of interest. The availability of these various forms of compensation creates an incentive for your financial advisor to make recommendations based upon the amount of compensation that could be received rather than based upon your particular needs.

We are committed to acting in your best interests at all times and we regularly monitor the interaction between our advisory representatives and their clients to identify and address potential conflicts of interest.

Performance Based Fees

Performance-based fees are designed to give a portion of the returns of an investment to the investment adviser as a reward for positive performance. The fee is generally a percentage of the profits made on the investments.

We do not charge performance-based fees on any of our client accounts.

Types of Clients

We provide advisory services primarily to individuals (including their trusts, estates and retirement accounts), corporations (and other businesses), and pension/profit sharing plans.

We generally do not require that you have a minimum investment amount to establish an advisory relationship with us. Notwithstanding, our Open Architecture Advisory Plan includes a minimum investment management fee (\$400 annually unless exceptions apply) to open and maintain an account, which is set forth in the investment advisory agreement.

We may recommend that you consider establishing a conventional broker-dealer

account if it appears that that would be more economically beneficial to you than a fee-based account (for example, if your investment account is relatively small and/or there would be limited investment activity in the account).

Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss

Our financial advisors select investments for your investment account through the use of fundamental and technical analysis and charting.

Fundamental analysis is a method of evaluating a company that has issued securities by attempting to measure the value of its underlying assets. This entails studying overall economic and industry conditions as well as the financial condition of the company and the quality of its management. Earnings, expenses, assets, and liabilities are all important in determining the value of a company. The value identified is then compared to the current price of the company's securities to determine whether to purchase, sell, or hold those securities.

Technical analysis is a method of evaluating securities by analyzing statistics associated with market activity, such as past prices and trading volume. Technical analysts do not attempt to measure a security's intrinsic value, rather they use charts and other tools to identify patterns that can suggest future performance.

Charting involves identifying patterns in the prices of securities that can suggest future activity in price movements. A chart pattern is a distinct formation that provides an indicator of potential future price movements. Chartists use these patterns to identify current trends and trend reversals that can trigger buy and sell signals.

The different investment strategies utilized by our financial advisors may be designed to be held

on a long-term basis, a short-term basis, or both. As previously noted, you may place reasonable restrictions on the strategies to be employed by your financial advisor in your account (such as, for example, the types of investments to be held in your account).

As previously noted, your financial advisor may recommend the use of one or more third-party investment managers to implement his/her investment advice. The investment managers that we make available to our financial advisors are selected based upon their investment strategies, experience, performance track record, reputation, and fee arrangements.

Although your financial advisor will manage your account in a manner believed to be consistent with your specific investment objectives and risk tolerances, there can be no guarantee that those efforts will be successful. General economic conditions, current interest rates, the performance of a particular industry or a particular company, and any number of other factors can affect investment performance both positively and negatively.

Because we cannot guarantee positive performance, you should be prepared to bear the risk of loss. All investments are subject to the potential for loss, including (among other things) loss of principal, a reduction in earnings dividends (including interest. and other distributions) and the loss of future earnings. You should also be aware that transactions in your investment account (including account reallocations and rebalancing) may trigger taxable events for you (unless your account is a qualified retirement account).

Disciplinary Information

There are no disciplinary matters that we believe would be material to your evaluation of our business or the integrity of our management.

Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations

As previously noted, Smith Moore is registered with the SEC as both an investment advisor and broker-dealer. Our broker-dealer is a FINRA member. All of our financial advisors are also registered representatives of the broker-dealer.

When registered representatives make recommendations to and effect securities transactions for their clients. they are compensated for these services through commissions or markups/markdowns. These commissions or markup / markdowns are charged to clients on each individual transaction.

As part of their clearing agreement with RBC, Smith Moore receives ongoing compensation from mutual fund networking fees. These are fees paid to RBC for administrative services.

In addition to the multiple sources of compensation that Smith Moore receives as part of their clearing agreement with RBC, in August 2021, Smith Moore received a one-time cash incentive payment. This payment is being used to offset infrastructure and operational expenses payable to RBC as a fully disclosed correspondent firm. Additionally, Smith Moore receives an ongoing annual marketing and recruiting incentive from RBC.

These initial and ongoing sources of compensation represent a conflict of interest. Smith Moore is financially incentivized to maintain their relationship with RBC and recommend that clients engage in various transactions and services.

We are committed to acting in your best interests at all times and we regularly monitor the interaction between our advisory representatives and their clients to identify and address potential conflicts of interest. Many of our financial advisors are also licensed to sell and service insurance products through various insurance companies that have selling agreements with Smith Moore. In this capacity as an insurance agent, they will receive commissions for the insurance products you purchase.

You are under no obligation to utilize the services of your financial advisor in the purchase or sale of securities or insurance products in his/her capacity as a registered representative or a licensed insurance agent. Any transactions you effect through your financial advisor in either of those capacities, however, will result in compensation to your financial advisor (and to us) in the form of commissions and other transaction-related compensation.

The securities brokerage and insurance services offered by our financial advisors are separate from the investment advisory services they offer. Generally, you will not be charged commissions or markup/markdowns on the transactions effected through your investment advisory relationship with us.

Your financial advisor will not exercise discretion in your account to purchase investments which include a commission or markup/markdown. If your account is managed on a non-discretionary basis, in rare instances, your financial advisor may be unable to recommend the purchase of an investment product that does not include a commission or markup/markdown. In such instances, your financial advisor will obtain your prior written authorization before effecting such a transaction in your account.

As explained under the *Fees and Compensation* section of this brochure, you will be charged for engaging in certain services and transactions effected in your investment advisory account. Your financial advisor will provide you with a Client Fee Listing reflecting those specific charges.

Code of Ethics, Participation or Interest in Client Transactions and Personal Trading

We have adopted a Code of Ethics ("Code") to address the securities-related conduct of our financial advisors and employees. The Code includes our policies and procedures developed to protect your interests in relation to the following:

- the duty at all times to place your interests ahead of ours
- that all personal securities transactions of our financial advisors and employees be conducted in a manner consistent with the Code and avoid any actual or potential conflict of interest, or any abuse of a financial advisor's or employee's position of trust and responsibility
- that financial advisors may not take inappropriate advantage of their positions
- that information concerning the identity of your security holdings and financial circumstances are confidential
- that independence in the investment decision-making process is paramount

We will provide a copy of the Code to you or any prospective client upon request.

On rare occasions, we could buy or sell securities for our own account that we also recommend to you. Similarly, our financial advisors and employees are permitted to buy or sell the same securities for their personal and family accounts that are bought or sold for your account.

Such transactions for our account and for the personal investment accounts of our financial advisors and employees may raise potential conflicts of interest. We have adopted policies and procedures to address these conflicts of interest. These policies and procedures:

• require that we, our financial advisors, and our employees act in your best interest

- prohibit favoring one client over another client.
- provide for the regular review of transactions to ensure that your interest has precedence over the personal interests of your financial advisor. While there is no standard that applies in every case, in general when your financial advisor receives a better price on the purchase or sale of a security for his/her own account on the same day that he/she also effected in your account, you will generally receive a better or comparable extenuating price unless there are circumstances.

Our financial advisors and employees must follow these procedures when purchasing or selling the same securities for themselves that were purchased or sold for clients.

Brokerage Practices

In those instances, in which your financial advisor manages your investment account, our clearing firm, RBC, will execute all transactions for your account. We test the quality of order executions to ensure that you are receiving the best available execution on transactions in your investment account.

We could engage in "bunched trading," which is the purchase or sale of a security for the accounts of multiple clients in a single transaction. If a bunched trade is executed, each participating client receives a price that represents the average of the prices at which all the transactions in a given bunch were executed. If the order is not completely filled, the securities purchased or sold are distributed among participating clients on a pro rata basis or in some other equitable manner.

Bunched trades are placed only when we reasonably believe that the combination of the transactions provides better prices for clients than had individual transactions been placed for clients.

Transactions for non-discretionary client accounts are generally not bunched with transactions for discretionary client accounts. Transactions for the accounts of our financial advisors and employees may be included in bunched trades. They will receive the same average price as clients.

Transactions for the accounts of our financial advisors or employees will not be favored over transactions for client accounts.

We are not obligated to include any client transaction in a bunched trade. Bunched trades will not be effected for any client's account if doing so is prohibited or otherwise inconsistent with that client's investment advisory agreement. No client will be favored over any other client.

You can direct us in writing to use another securities brokerage firm or another financial institution (such as the trust department of a bank) to execute some or all of the transactions for your investment advisory account. If you do so, the transaction fees and other expenses you are charged could be more or less than what we charge.

When you direct us to execute transactions for your investment advisory account through another securities brokerage firm, you will be responsible for negotiating the terms and arrangements for the account with that firm. This includes negotiating transaction charges, obtaining volume discounts, ensuring best execution, etc.

Review of Accounts

Your financial advisor will review your account to ensure that your investments and investment strategies are still consistent with your investment goals, objectives and risk tolerance. Your financial advisor will contact you at least annually (or more often as agreed upon with you) to review your account and to update your financial status, goals, objectives and risk tolerance. These reviews will encompass any investment restrictions you have requested and how your investments meet your investment time horizons, liquidity needs, tax considerations and other circumstances unique to you.

Changes in your investments and your investment strategies will be made by your financial advisor as they are deemed appropriate.

As previously noted, we strongly encourage you to inform your financial advisor of any changes in your personal circumstances, your investment goals or objectives, and your risk tolerance to ensure that your investments and investment strategies are most appropriate for you.

In addition to the reviews done by your financial advisor, our Compliance Department, under the direction of our Chief Compliance Officer, monitors client accounts on an on-going basis to ensure that the investments and transactions in those accounts are consistent with the information we have been provided.

Third-Party Investment Management Services

Your financial advisor will regularly review the reports provided to you by any third-party investment managers that are managing an account for you. Your financial advisor will contact you at least annually (or more often as agreed upon with you) to review your financial situation, investment goals, objectives, risk tolerances and the performance of the thirdparty investment manager to ensure that your account is being managed in a manner consistent with your best interests.

Again, we strongly encourage you to advise your financial advisor of any changes in your personal

circumstances, your investment goals or objectives, and your risk tolerance to ensure that your investments and investment strategies are most appropriate for you.

You will receive statements on at least a quarterly basis identifying your current investment holdings and their current market values.

Client Referrals and Other Compensation

Payments for referrals will be disclosed directly to the referred client. We do not receive any other fees or compensation relating to the investment advisory services we provide to our clients other than as described above in this brochure.

Custody

As previously noted, when your financial advisor manages your investment account, RBC will maintain custody of the investment assets in your investment advisory account. RBC will send you statements at least quarterly reflecting the investment assets you hold, the transactions that have been effected for your account, and the advisory fees you have been charged. We encourage you to closely review each account statement you receive to verify that the transactions in your account are consistent with your investment goals and the objectives for your account. You should promptly notify your financial advisor or our Compliance Department if you notice any apparent errors or have any questions.

Investment Discretion

As previously noted, we offer our advisory services on a discretionary basis (meaning that we do not need advance approval from you to determine the type and amount of securities to be bought and sold for your account) and a nondiscretionary basis (meaning that we need advance approval from you to determine the type and amount of securities to be bought and sold for your accounts).

We may only exercise discretion if you have provided that authority to us in writing. This authorization is typically included in the investment advisory agreement you enter into with us.

The discretionary authority granted to us does not provide us with the ability to withdraw funds from your account (other than to withdraw our investment advisory fees which may only be done with your prior written authorization).

We will exercise discretion in your investment account in a manner consistent with the stated investment objectives for your account.

Typically, under third-party investment management arrangements, the third-party investment manager exercises discretion in the management of your account and decides upon and executes all investment transactions. We do not manage or obtain discretionary authority over the assets in those accounts. You can, however, grant us the discretionary authority to hire and fire such third-party managers on your behalf.

Voting Client Securities

Our financial advisors do not generally take any action or give any advice with respect to voting of proxies solicited by or with respect to the issuers of securities in which your accounts may be invested. As noted above, your financial advisor may assist you in voting proxies if you retain him/her to do so as a financial consulting service.

Our financial advisors, similarly, do not generally take any action or give any advice with respect to any securities held in any accounts that are named in or subject to class action lawsuits. We will forward to you any information received by us regarding proxies and class action legal matters involving any securities held in your accounts so that you can choose how you wish to respond to them.

Financial Information

We have no financial commitment that impairs our ability to meet contractual and fiduciary commitments to you. We have not been the subject of any bankruptcy proceedings.